

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI PADOVA

Department of Comparative Biomedicine and Food Science -BCA Department of Agronomy, Food, Natural resources, Animal and Environment - DAFNAE

Second Cycle Degree (MSc)

In Biotechnologies for food sciences

"Does DNA extraction really matter? Validation and comparison of a standard and direct Real-Time PCR protocol for the rapid and economic diagnosis of Porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV-2) infection."

Supervisor:

GIOVANNI FRANZO

Co-supervisor:

GIULIA FAUSTINI

Submitted by: ERINA MATI Student Nr: 2006002

ACADEMIC YEAR 2021-2022

Table of Contents

Abstract.	3
1. Introduction	5
1.1 Introducing Porcine circoviruses (PCVs): emergence, taxonomy a	and epidemiology 5
1.2 PCV-2 Vaccinations.	9
1.3 Diagnostic methodologies.	
1.3.1 Introducing Real-Time PCR	
1.3.2 Standard versus Direct Real-Time PCR.	
1.4 Overview of thesis dissertation	
2. Materials and Methods	18
2.1. Reference sample processing	
2.2. Real-Time PCR protocol	
2.3. Assay optimization and validation	
2.4. Statistical analysis	
3. Results and Discussions	21
3.1 Optimization Experiments	
3.2 Repeatability descriptive assessment	24
3.3 Repeatability statistical assessment	
4. Conclusions	
Bibliography	31
Acknowledgements	41

Abstract.

Porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV-2) is a virus of the *Circoviridae* family that since the first reports in the 90s has had an increasing impact on the swine industry in pig-producing countries all over the world causing multiple syndromes. Many diagnostic protocols have been developed and used for PCV-2 detection. Most of them are highly accurate but they can be costly and time-consuming, limiting their application, especially in developing countries.

To develop and validate a rapid and inexpensive protocol that can find application for research purposes and routine diagnosis, a direct Real-Time PCR (without DNA extraction) for the detection of PCV-2 was compared to a standard Real-Time PCR, requiring a preliminary DNA extraction step.

Optimization experiments for the direct Real-Time PCR were performed evaluating procedures on samples before loading and amplification like preheating, pipetting and centrifuging. Since no significant improvement in efficiency and sensitivity was detected after integrating these extra steps in the protocol, the final validation and comparison with the standard Real-Time PCR (with DNA extraction) was performed using the less time-consuming and easier direct protocol.

The parallel comparison was important for validating the accuracy of the protocol. Statistical analysis showed that the standard Real-Time PCR method provides higher PCR efficiency and repeatability and a lower variability in the viral titre estimation than the direct method. The overall higher efficiency of the standard Real-Time method could be explained by the process of extraction that helps to reduce potential inhibitors of amplification reaction.

The here validated direct Real-Time PCR method represents a potential alternative to the standard one for developing countries, guaranteeing a more affordable and rapid detection method to control PCV-2. On the other hand, the standard Real-Time PCR method still ensures higher efficiency and repeatability, thus more reliable results which are crucial when higher accuracy is needed.

The optimization of the direct method in order to enhance its performances is a prospect for future research.

Riassunto.

Il *Porcine circovirus 2* (PCV-2) è un virus appartenente alla famiglia *Circoviridae* che, sin dalle prime segnalazioni negli anni '90, ha avuto un impatto crescente nella suinicoltura dei paesi produttori a livello globale essendo responsabile di molteplici sindromi. Diversi sono i protocolli diagnostici che son stati sviluppati ed utilizzati per l'identificazione di PCV-2. La maggior parte di essi forniscono risultati altamente accurati, ma il costo, il reagentario e la strumentazione necessari ne limitano l'applicazione, specialmente nei Paesi in via di sviluppo.

Con l'obiettivo di sviluppare e validare un protocollo rapido ed economicamente più accessibile che allo stesso tempo possa trovare applicazione nella ricerca e nella diagnosi di routine, è stata comparata una Real-Time PCR "diretta" (in cui i campioni non sono stati sottoposti ad estrazione del DNA) per l'identificazione di PCV-2 con il protocollo di Real-Time PCR standard, il quale richiede invece un processo preliminare di estrazione.

Durante la fase di ottimizzazione della Real-Time PCR diretta i campioni sono stati sottoposti a diversi trattamenti prima di essere testati, quali preriscaldamento, pipettaggio e centrifugazione. Poiché non è stato rilevato alcun miglioramento significativo dell'efficienza e della sensibilità dopo l'integrazione di queste fasi aggiuntive nel protocollo, la validazione finale e il confronto con la Real-Time PCR standard sono stati eseguiti utilizzando il protocollo diretto più pratico e meno dispendioso in termini di tempo.

Il confronto in parallelo è stato fondamentale per validare l'accuratezza del protocollo sviluppato. L'analisi statistica ha evidenziato come il metodo standard di Real-Time PCR garantisca una migliore efficienza e ripetibilità, così come una maggiore sensibilità e minore variabilità nella stima dei titoli virali rispetto al metodo diretto. Nel complesso, la maggiore efficienza registrata per il metodo standard di Real-Time potrebbe essere spiegata dal processo di estrazione che permette di ridurre potenziali inibitori della reazione di amplificazione.

Il metodo diretto di Real-Time PCR validato potrebbe rappresentare una potenziale alternativa a quello standard soprattutto per i Paesi in via di sviluppo, fornendo uno strumento rapido ed economico per il controllo del PCV-2. D'altra parte, il protocollo standard di Real-Time PCR assicura una maggiore efficienza e ripetibilità, garantendo quindi risultati più affidabili, fondamentali quando richiesta una maggiore accuratezza. L'ottimizzazione del metodo diretto per migliorarne le prestazioni rappresenta sicuramente una prospettiva di ricerca futura.

1. Introduction.

In the introduction chapter, a general overview of *Porcine circovirus* type 2(PCV-2) is provided, with a particular focus on its characteristics and epidemiology, current methods available for its identification, and the importance of developing and validating a new, more rapid, and affordable protocol for its detection.

1.1 Introducing *Porcine circovirus*es (PCVs): emergence, taxonomy and epidemiology.

Porcine circovirus 2 (PCV-2) is a virus affecting pig-producing countries worldwide. Being one of the main causes of pig losses, and thus economic losses, it is crucial nowadays to have a rapid, reliable, and affordable method for identifying the presence of this virus on a farm.

The first Porcine circovirus (later designated as PCV-1) was discovered in 1974 as a contaminant of porcine kidney-15 cell cultures (PK-15 cells) (Tischer et al., 1974). It belongs to the *Circoviridae* family and the genus *Circovirus*. Its presence was detected in several countries like Germany (Tischer et al., 1986), the USA (Hines & . Lukert, 1995), Canada (Dulac & Afshar, 1989), and England (Edwards & Sands, 1994).

In the late 1990s, a new PCV phylogenetically different from the PCV-1 was detected in pigs showing an emerging wasting disease, later termed as the post-weaning multisystemic wasting syndrome (PMWS). This new pathogen was named *Porcine circovirus type 2* (PCV-2) (Meehan et al., 1998).

Lately, in 2015, a new *Porcine circovirus* type 3, (PCV-3) was discovered thanks to recent developments in sequencing technologies, i.e. next-generation sequencing (NGS) (Palinski et al., 2017; Phan et al., 2016). However, similar to other circoviruses far more ancient origin and long-time circulation was thereafter demonstrated (Franzo et al., 2019; Opriessnig et al., 2020). It is still uncertain if PCV-3 directly induces any diseases or requires the co-infection with other pathogens or other co-factors as it has been detected in pigs with overt clinical disease (Kedkovid et al., 2018; Phan et al., 2016; Qi et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2018) but also in healthy animals (Klaumann et al., 2018, 2019).

Similarly, in 2019, a new *circovirus*, *Porcine circovirus* type 4 (PCV-4) was identified both in healthy pigs and in animals with severe disease including respiratory signs, enteric signs and porcine dermatitis and nephropathy syndrome (PDNS) in Hunan province, China (Zhang et al., 2019). PCV-4 was later detected also in other Chinese provinces and South-Korea (Chen et al., 2021; Ha et al., 2021; Hou et al., 2022; Nguyen et al., 2022; Sun et al., 2021) The knowledge and data pool around PCV-3 and, especially, PCV-4 continues to be limited and they can be considered as a prospective research field.

Porcine circoviruses have a simple architecture, featured by a single-stranded circular DNA (ssDNA) packed inside an icosahedral capsid measuring approximately 17 ± 1.3 nm in diameter (Grau-Roma et al., 2011) (see *Figure 1*). The genome carries two major open reading frames (ORFs), ORF1 and ORF2, encoding the replicase (Rep) protein and the capsid (Cap) protein respectively (Hamel et al., 1998; Mankertz et al., 1998).



Figure 1. Circovirus structure (Created with BioRender.com).

The Rep is necessary for the replication of the circovirus genome, while the transcription of ORF2 gene produces a 233 amino acid capsid protein which is PCV-2 dominant immunogenic antigen (Cheung, 2003; Mankertz et al., 1998). In addition, several smaller ORFs have been identified, among which ORF3, ORF4 and ORF5 were characterized more in detail. The ORF3 gene encodes a 105-amino acid protein implicated in inducing apoptosis of infected cells and has been ascribed to have a role in PCV-2 pathogenesis (Chaiyakul et al., 2010; Juhan et al., 2010; Karuppannan et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2006), while the ORF4 seems to be involved in apoptosis inhibition. ORF5 may be involved in PCV-2 infection cycle (Lv et al., 2015).

As mentioned before, the ORF2 encoded capsid protein is the main target of the immune system, the selective pressure acting on this protein likely explains the higher variability of this gene (Segalés et al., 2008; Xiao et al., 2015a).

Studies and protocols implemented on ORF2 amplification allowed to investigate PCV-2 epidemiology and diversity, which is crucial considering its important economical role. Over time, several PCV-2 variants emerged, different both from an epidemiological and biological perspective. A classification of these in genotypes was proposed in 2018 (Franzo & Segalés, 2018), which has been allowing to define nine genotypes: from PCV-2a to PCV-2i (Wang et al., 2020).

Since its detection, major changes in the prevalence of circulating genotypes of PCV-2 have been observed. From 1996 to the early 2000s the most prevalent genotype was PCV-2a; a "genotype shift" to PCV-2b occurred in the mid-2000s, accompanied by increased virulence (Beach & Meng, 2012; Carman et al., 2006, 2008; Constans et al., 2015; Cortey et al., 2011; Franzo et al., 2016; Timmusk et al., 2008; Wiederkehr et al., 2009).

A second "genotype shift" is occurring globally, from PCV-2b to PCV-2d, thought to be a result of the worldwide use of PCV-2 vaccines (Franzo et al., 2016; Kwon et al., 2017; Xiao et al., 2015).



Figure 2. PCV-2 Neighbor-Joining phylogenetic tree. Neighbor-Joining phylogenetic tree reconstructed based on row genetic distances (i.e. pairwise p-distance) calculated on a collection of strains representative of the proposed PCV-2 genotypes. Both the cluster and genotype nomenclature are reported. Bootstrap support is displayed near the corresponding node (Franzo & Segalés, 2018).

Unlike PCV-1 which is apathogenic, PCV-2 is known to be the causing agent of some porcine diseases directly or in synergy with other pathogens or environmental factors. PCV-2 associated syndromes are collectively named Porcine circovirus diseases (PCVD) (see *Figure 3*).



Figure 3: PCV-2 can cause uneven growth in pigs, creating economic loss for producers (Hancox, 2021).

The most common clinical conditions are:

- postweaning multisystemic wasting syndrome (PMWS), now named PCV-2 systemic disease (PCV-2-SD),
- porcine respiratory diseases complex (PRDC),
- porcine dermatitis and nephropathy syndrome (PDNS),
- enteritis,
- reproductive disorders (PCV-2-RD) (Ladekjaer-Mikkelsen et al., 2001).

We will use PCVD in this dissertation to refer to all clinical manifestations related to PCV-2 infection.

Interesting and still unsolved is the PCV-2 emergence, since PCVD symptoms emerged very unexpectedly and almost simultaneously in swine populations all over the world and increased in frequency over the years. However, retrospective studies have revealed the PCV-2 circulation for decades before its first detection. Some theories advocate that the emergence of other cofactors might have influenced the evolution of PCV-2 epidemiology (e.g. management practices, facilities, nutrition, etc.) (Grau-Roma et al., 2011). In addition, the development of global markets has enhanced the movement of animals or animal products between countries, thus favoring the spreading of infectious agents (Drew et al., 2011) (see *Figure 4*).

As evidence of its wide distribution, this virus has reached also underdeveloped/developing countries or even small farmers around the world that have very limited access to the new technologies for the detection of these viruses. Similar consideration can be drawn for other pathogens that can affect also other plants, animals, and, even humans (Barman et al., 2018; Deka et al., 2021; Franzo et al., 2022; Park & Chae, 2021; Xu et al., 2021). To provide adequate surveillance also in developing countries, we must continuously work on optimizing our protocols to make them easy to use and more affordable to those with fewer economic resources. An "easy-to-use protocol" would facilitate the identification of PCV-2 in pig-producing farms leading to better control and prevention of disease development.



Figure 4. Prediction of the main routes of dispersal of PCV-2 in the swine industry. These routes were predicted from the haplotype network and considered the groups of viral isolates that were identified in more than one country and the statistics on the international trading of live pigs (Vidigal et al., 2012).

1.2 PCV-2 Vaccinations.

PCV-2 is now known as an endemic and highly prevalent virus, increasing the need to control its spread and clinical manifestations. Both in developed and in developing countries, management plays a pivotal role in preventing the devastating consequences of the PCVDs, and it consists in:

- disinfection;
- limiting animal contact,
- mixing of batches and cross-fostering;
- isolating or euthanasing of diseased pigs;
- temperature, airflow and pens space management;
- anti-parasitic treatments and vaccination. (Madec et al., 2000)

Conventional vaccines were developed and became available in 2004 in Europe and in 2006 in North America, and later they were introduced by pig farmers worldwide. As predicted, the usage of these vaccines was accompanied by a decrease in morbidity and improved production efficiency (Ellis et al, 2014).

Up to recent days, scientists have gathered a lot of knowledge about various aspects of PCV-2 such as its evolution, phylogeny, immune response, interaction with host cellular proteins and efficacy of the vaccines. The most used commercial vaccines that are now found on the market derive from the PCV-2a genotype and its capsid protein (Opriessnig et al., 2007). They can induce cell-mediated and humoral immunity against PCV-2 and have proven to be successful in decreasing the disease burden (Fort et al., 2009; Fort et al., 2012; Kekarainen et al., 2010).

Unfortunately, despite the health benefits and improved production parameters, PCV-2 infection is still widespread even among the vaccinated population. The PCV-2 genotypes continue to evolve and this is reflected by the recent change in the prevalence of PCV-2d (Xiao et al., 2016).

Circovac, Merial was the first commercial PCV-2 vaccine and was based on the classical technique of inactivated oil-adjuvanted vaccine.

Circovac was followed by four other commercial PCV-2 vaccines in the international market that were licensed only for use in piglets. Three of them (Circoflex, Boehringer Ingelheim; Circumvent, Intervet/Merck; Porcillis PCV, Schering-Plough/Merck) are based on ORF2 capsid protein because of its potential to induce a protective immune response (Blanchard et al., 2003; Nawagitgul et al., 2002).

The fourth vaccine (Suvaxyn PCV2 One Dose, Pfizer Animal Health/Fort Dodge Animal Health) is based on a chimaeric PCV-1/ 2 virus containing the genome of PCV-1, with the ORF2 capsid gene replaced by that of PCV-2 (Fenaux et al., 2004).

Vaccine	Antigen	Adjuvant	Animals	Dosage
Circovac	Inactivated PCV-2	Light paraffin oil	Sow	2mL
			Piglet	0.5mL
Circoflex	Capsid	Aqueous polymer	Piglet	1mL
Circumvent	Capsid	D1-a-tocopherol + liquid paraffin	Piglet	2mL
Porcillis PCV	Capsid	D1-a-tocopherol + liquid paraffin	Piglet	2mL
Fostera PCV	Inactivated chimaeric PCV1/2	Sulpholipo-cyclodextrin in squalane	Piglet	2mL

Table 1: Commercial porcine circovirus type 2 available in the international market (Chae, 2012).

1.3 Diagnostic methodologies.

Until recently many different assays were used for the detection of PCV-2 targeting the viral antigens or genome. For example, during the early studies performed in Canada to identify the causative agent of PMWS, direct detection of the viral DNA or antigen detection with *in situ* hybridization (ISH) and immunohistochemistry (IHC) respectively was carried out in formaline fixed tissues (McNeilly et al., 1999).

ISH is a method that uses sequence specific probes (labelled with either radio- or fluorescent-, labeled bases) to detect a specific sequence or region of the DNA/RNA. One of the most beneficial aspects of using ISH is the matrix optimization, since it is possible to perform different hybridizations on the same tissue. On the other hand, one of its drawbacks is the low sensitivity, making difficult the identification of low levels of DNA and RNA copies (Jensen et al, 2014).

IHC uses the antigen-antibody reaction to localize specific antigens in cells or tissues and is a widely used method. It can provide good results but it requires multiple steps and the development of a "gold-standard" assay for calibrating test results (Goldstein & Watkins, 2008; Hofman et al., 2002; Hofman & Taylor, 2013).

Another diagnostic methodology that is really important also from a surveillance and control perspective is the *enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay* (ELISA), an immunological assay commonly used to measure antibodies, antigens, proteins and glycoproteins in biological samples. For the detection of PCV-2, ELISA targets the well-characterized recombinant PCV-2 capsid protein (Ge et al., 2012; Lian et al., 2021). Nevertheless, ELISA sensitivity is lower than that of nucleic acid amplification tests because it does not amplify the target in the samples tested, potentially leading to higher false negative results (Martín et al., 2021).

In summary, these techniques have a limited sensitivity, low throughput and require expensive laboratory instruments and specialized personnel for sample processing and results interpretation, compared to other diagnostic methodologies.

Among the methods targeting the viral genome, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is undoubtedly the most rapid and sensitive method for its identification. One of the earliest applied approaches involved a combination of methods used of nested polymerase chain reaction (nested PCR) with restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) (Ciacci-Zanella & Morés, 2003).

It was only later in the early 2000s that Real-Time PCR (Chung et al., 2005) and loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) PCR (Zhou et al., 2011) started to be regularly used for the identification of PCV-2. More recently, DNA microarrays and multiplex ligase detection–PCR were used for the simultaneous detection of several swine viruses (Jiang et al., 2011), as well as isothermal recombinase polymerase amplification (RPA) assays (Yang et al., 2017).

PCV-2 Detection Methods LAMP, Nested **ISH & IHC Real-Time PCR&** PCR & **RPA** Assav RFLP ISH - in situ hybridisation PCR - polymerase chain reaction LAMP - loop-mediated isothermal amplification IHC - Immunohistochemistry **RFLP-** restriction fragment length polymorphism RPA - recombinase polymerase amplification

Figure 5. Schematic representation of methodology development from the first detection of porcine circovirus 2 (PCV-2) until today (Created with BioRender.com).

1.3.1 Introducing Real-Time PCR.

Real-Time PCR is currently the most used method for the identification of PCV-2 because it allows the sensitive, specific, and reproducible detection and quantification of nucleic acids. The assays are fast and easy to perform; the risk of carry-over contamination is minimal because of the closed-tube formats of the analyses; post-PCR processing is not required, and the results obtained have high precision, provided that the evaluation is done correctly (Wilhelm & Pingoud, 2003).

Real-Time PCR is a technology that has various applications such as:

- Gene expression analysis
- Detection of genetically modified organisms (GMOs)
- Quantification of viral load
- Genotyping of Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs)
- Allelic discrimination.

This method has played a key role in the detection, quantification, and typing of viral pathogens due to its higher sensitivity and specificity (Hoffmann et al., 2009) for diagnostic purposes, compared to previous techniques (e.g. culture methods) which are more time-consuming and hard to perform for some viruses. Moreover, in combination with ELISA tests used to assess animal antibody coverage, it allows for effective monitoring measures which are crucial for surveillance and control plans.

The Real-Time PCR functioning is based on the monitoring of the generated fluorescence by using two main strategies:

- 1. Non-specific fluorescent DNA dyes (Higuchi et al., 1992) and
- 2. Oligonucleotide probes labelled with a fluorescent dye (Holland et al., 1991).



Figure 6. LightCycler ® *96 Instrument used in our study* (Roche Molecular Systems).

In a probe based Real-Time PCR the knowledge of the target sequence that we want to amplify is pivotal because the primers and the probe must effectively bind that sequence. In our experiment ORF1 gene, a highly conserved region of the viral genome, was the target sequence (Opriessnig et al., 2003). *Figure 6* illustrates the Real-Time machine used in this study.

Real-Time PCR is a 3 steps reaction, whose temperature and duration depend on the kit used and primers and probe designed:

- 1. Activation
- 2. Denaturation
- 3. Primers Annealing and DNA polymerase Extension.

The *Activation* step, which can be also called "the initial denaturation step", activates the hot start DNA

polymerase, whose enzymatic activity is suppressed at room temperature to avoid nonspecific amplifications prior to thermal protocol. Hence, temperature and timing depend on the polymerase enzyme used. The activation step is followed by denaturation, annealing and extention that are repeated in cycle (e.g. 45 cycles for our protocol).

During *Denaturation* temperature is again increased to roughly 95 °C to separate the double stranded DNA helix into two single-stranded DNA templates, preparing the nucleic acid for the annealing of primers and probe. Denaturation approximately lasts just 10 seconds.

During *Annealing and extension* temperature lowers roughly to 60 °C for 15-30 seconds (according to primers and probe designing, amplicon size and polymerase) to induce the binding of primers and probes to their target sequence in the template. DNA polymerase binds to the primers (forward and reverse) and adds the complementary nucleotides (dNTPs), in the 5'-3' direction, one by one following the 3'-5' strands as a template. When the DNA polymerase reaches the probe location in the strand, it cleaves the probe, allowing fluorescence emission and detection, and displaces it with new dNTPs continuing the strand extension.

A probe is an oligonucleotide double-labelled with a reporter fluorophore at the 5' end and with a quencher at the 3' end. The quencher dye absorbs the fluorescence of the reporter dye due to its proximity, which prevents fluorescence emission. The two primers (reverse and forward) allow amplification of the product, and both the primers and the probe hybridize to the target sequence. During the target sequence amplification, the polymerase digests the probe, and the quencher is therefore separated from the fluorophore, which now emits fluorescence after excitation (see *Figure 7*). The polymerase can cleave the probe only while it remains hybridized to its complementary strand, that is why the temperature conditions of the polymerization phase should be adjusted to ensure probe binding (Navarro et al., 2015).



Fluorescent Probe-Based Real-Time PCR

Figure 7. Concept illustration of Real-Time PCR steps with temperatures and timing used in our experiment and key concept illustration on how fluorescent probes work (Created with BioRender.com).

What makes Real-Time PCR unique and different from classic PCR is that the measurement of fluorescence after each cycle provides information about the amount of DNA amplicons in the sample in Real-Time. With each PCR cycle the amount of PCR product doubles which can be detected with an increase in fluorescence. This generates a classic Real-Time PCR curve, a plot of the amplification process in which the PCR product accumulation follows a sigmoidal pattern. During the first few cycles we have what we call "initiation phase" which means that the fluorescence cannot yet be distinguished from the baseline; then the PCR product increases exponentially and the intensity of fluorescence overcomes the background.



Figure 8. Classic Real-time PCR amplification curve. (Created with BioRender.com)

The fractional cycle when the fluorescence emerges above the background is called quantification cycle or "Cq value" (can be found in other literature also as Ct, meaning threshold cycle) and it is inversely proportional to the amount of the target. The greater the amount of target nucleic acid in the sample, the lower the Cq level will be as it will reach the detection level more quickly.

When the fluorescence reaches the threshold level the cycle enters the "*linear phase*", in which PCR product, thus the fluorescence, increases linearly, roughly 1000 times every 10 cycles. When reagents start to run out, the curve reaches a "*plateau phase*" after which no increase in fluorescence can be observed.

It is during the linear phase that the information necessary to evaluate the efficiency of the reaction is obtained.

The efficiency value (E-value) of a PCR amplification is normally expressed as a percentage and gives the rate at which our PCR product is generated. In an ideal experiment, the product will duplicate after each round, and in this case the efficiency value is 100%. The E-value is calculated from the slope of a standard curve, generated through a ten-fold dilution, by the following equation:

 $E = -1 + 10^{(-1/slope)}$.

The exponential amplification of the PCR reaction is obtained with the following equation: Exponential amplification= $10^{(-1/\text{slope})}$.

The optimal efficiency value and exponential amplification value would be between 90 and 100% and between 1.9 - 2 respectively, which correspond to a slope between -3.6 and -3.3, that represents a difference of 3.6 - 3.3 cycles between a sample and its 10-folds dilution. A lower efficiency can be caused by:

Low Real-Time PCR Efficiency causes		
Causes	Effect	
	Unspecific alignment of primers/probe to	
	their target	
Bad primer/probe design	Formation of secondary structures such as	
	hairpins or primer dimers.	
	Inadequate melting temperature of primers	
	and probe	
Reagent concentration	Not accurate reagent concentrations in the	
	master mix.	
Reaction conditions	Non-optimal reaction conditions.	

Table 2: Cause-effect table of factors that can lead to a low efficiency of PCR (Čepin, 2017).

1.3.2 Standard versus Direct Real-Time PCR.

To perform a standard Real-Time PCR the nucleic acid needs to be extracted and isolated before the amplification.

A well-performed extraction is believed to provide more reliable results in Real-Time PCR because it prevents or lowers amplification inhibition or false-negative results from undesired contaminants.

On the other hand, DNA/RNA extraction is a challenging and time-consuming task, not to mention that the required reagents are usually quite expensive.

Moreover, the extraction phase introduces other variables that we need to account for to obtain a good and reliable results:

- Operator skills (laboratory technician, researcher, student, etc.),
- cross-contamination,
- extraction kit quality and accuracy
- cost of reagents.

Stating so, the standard Real-Time PCR method is not ideal for usage when needed in developing countries where local diagnostic laboratories often do not have the necessary facilities and staff to perform complicated and time-consuming steps like those involved in DNA extraction. A direct Real-Time PCR could allow saving on costs of reagents and time that are needed for nucleic acid extraction.

To overcome the disadvantages associated with extraction, without losing the advantages of Real-Time PCR, several direct methods were developed, above all for those pathogens whose rapid detection became suddenly urgent. To put the benefits of the direct Real-Time PCR method under this perspective, the outbreak of SARS-CoV-2 and, thus, the Covid-19 pandemic is a perfect example. Real-Time PCR proved to be one of the gold standard methods for the SARS-CoV-2 detection but the urgent need for rapid identification and the shortage of reagents and extraction kits due to the sudden spread of the disease, led to the need for a protocol that does not include the RNA extraction. Plenty of research was made to develop and optimize such protocols which could guarantee to the world a more rapid, cheaper and not less efficient detection method for the virus (Buchan et al., 2021; Lübke et al., 2020; Rajh et al., 2021; Smyrlaki et al., 2020).

Although the PCV-2 epidemiology is not as alarming as that of SARS-CoV-2, it still affects on daily bases the pig industry causing big economical damage both in developed and developing countries, thus justifying the need of developing rapid and easy to use protocols. With this purpose, my thesis aimed to develop, optimize, and validate a direct protocol allowing to skip the single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) extraction step.

1.4 Overview of thesis dissertation.

In this dissertation, we will refer to the Real-Time PCR where we initially performed nucleic acid extraction as "standard Real-Time PCR/ standard method" while to the Real-Time PCR performed directly without the extraction step as "direct Real-Time PCR/direct method".

The goal of the experimental work is to develop and optimize a rapid protocol for the detection of PCV-2 allowing direct sample analysis with Real-Time PCR without performing DNA extraction.

To achieve this, we initially evaluated a series of different protocols in order to optimize results (i.e. maximize Ct values, number of dilutions, efficiency, handling, number of required steps). Different dilutions of the same sample were tested under different heating temperatures, extra pipetting and centrifugation before loading to the Real-Time PCR machine.

After assay optimization and results evaluation, we chose the protocol with which we obtained the best results with the lowest number of steps required.

Moreover, the data gathered were statistically analyzed and then interpreted.

Advantages and disadvantages of the direct method were briefly discussed, as well as problems faced along the assay optimization and why they might have happened.

Lastly we discussed the importance of developing a direct method emphasizing its potential impact in the pig producing industry.

2. Materials and Methods.

The standard and most used protocols for performing a Real-Time PCR involve the nucleic acid extraction from the tissue/cells we want to test. A variety of standard kits are already available for performing an efficient extraction protocol depending on the type of matrix and the type of nucleic acid (DNA/RNA). In our experiments, the "Viral DNA/RNA kit (A&A Biotechnology)" was used according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.1. Reference sample processing

To evaluate and compare the analytic sensitivity of the considered diagnostic protocols, a serial dilution of a positive sample in a negative one was performed.

Samples consisted of lungs and lymph nodes from pigs regularly slaughtered for food consumption. After being screened for PCV-2 with an in-house Real-Time PCR (see section "Real-Time PCR protocol"), one positive and one negative sample were selected for this study.

To create the reference matrix to test, negative and positive tissues were separately homogenized using respectively 20 and 4 ml of PBS, in a ratio of 1g/10ml. The supernatants were then aspirated and collected in two distinct Falcon tubes.

Nucleic acids were extracted from 100 μ L of both positive and negative reference samples using the Viral DNA/RNA kit (A&A Biotechnology), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Extracted reference samples were tested using Real-Time PCR to confirm their negativity and positivity status and quantify the viral titer. The analyte concentration obtained in the positive sample was used to set the number of dilutions to test with the standard method (with DNA extraction) and with the direct method (without DNA extraction).

Finally, the ten-fold dilution of the positive sample homogenate in the negative matrix was performed and several aliquots of each dilution were prepared and stored at -80°C until further processing.

2.2. Real-Time PCR protocol

The DyNAmo Flash Probe qPCR Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) was used to perform all the Real-Time PCR.

Each reaction was performed on a total volume of 10 µL of a standard mix containing:

- 5 μL of 2X DyNAmo Flash Probe qPCR master mix,
- 0.4 μM of each PCV-2-specific primer (P1570F 5'-TGGCCCGCAGTATTCTGATT-3' and P1642R 5'-CAGCTGGGACAGCAGTTGAG-3') (Opriessnig et al., 2003)
- 0.2 μM of probe (P1591 5'-6FAM-CCAGCAATCAGACCCCGTTGGAATG-IBFQ-3') (Opriessnig et al., 2003)
- $2 \mu L$ of extracted DNA or non-extracted sample.
- Sterile water for molecular biology added up to $10 \ \mu L$ of the final volume.

Reactions were performed on a LightCycler® 96 Instrument thermal cycler (Roche) (*Figure* 6). The cycling conditions were 7 min at 95°C for initial activation, followed by 45 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 10 s, and annealing and extension at 60° C for 30 s. The fluorescence signal was acquired at the end of each cycle extension phase.

2.3. Assay optimization and validation

Seven reference samples to be tested for the optimization of the assay were obtained by 10-fold dilution of the original positive supernatant using the negative one as the solvent, as previously mentioned. The panel for both the standard method and direct method included the original positive supernatant and its dilutions, and the negative supernatant. Positive and negative controls, previously validated, were also added to the Real-Time PCR.

To avoid tissue frustules potentially inhibiting the extraction process (standard method) or the amplification reaction (direct method), each sample was centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 2 minutes before extraction or before sample loading in the Real-Time PCR plate.

The following sample processing conditions were attempted and compared with the reference method, to evaluate their potential benefit in maximizing reaction performances on non-extracted samples. In summary, samples extracted with minicolumns were compared to:

- unprocessed samples;
- unprocessed samples heated over a range of temperature from 55 to 100 °C;
- unprocessed samples heated and centrifuged or pipetted.

The heating process was performed using the laboratory thermo-mixer T-shaker EuroClone ®.

To assess the repeatability within and between runs, five logarithmic dilutions were obtained and tested in triplicate for each method.

2.4. Statistical analysis

During the assay optimization phase, estimated viral titers, the limit of detection (LOD), number of detected dilutions, and reaction efficiency were selected as parameters of interest and used to evaluate the assay performances and eventually adjust the conditions of the tested method.

Real-Time PCR results were collected in a database classifying single results according to the method, dilution, and run. Separate subsets of only positive results according to dilution and sample processing method were also created.

The repeatability of the Real-Time PCR assays was assessed by analyzing the mean value, standard deviation, and coefficient of variation of estimated logarithmic concentration values of the analyte. Reaction efficiencies and relative variation coefficients, LOD, and several detected dilutions were also considered to evaluate repeatability from a descriptive point of view.

An exploratory data analysis was performed graphically:

- Normality of data classified by method and dilution was assessed using a Q-Q plot.
- Multiple boxplots were graphed to compare different dilutions in terms of estimated logarithmic concentration values both within sample processing methods and overall without stratifying per method.
- Effect of the interaction between method and run using estimated logarithmic concentration values for each dilution subset was assessed by interaction plots.

Thereafter, the presence of statistically significant difference among estimated logarithmic concentration values (dependent variable) was formally evaluated through ANOVA for each dilution, or the corresponding non-parametric test Kruskal-Wallis, taking into consideration the sample processing method, the run, and interaction between them as independent variables playing as potential sources of variability. For this purpose, dedicated data subsets according to the dilution level were generated.

ANOVA assumptions of normal data distribution and homogeneity of variance were preliminary and formally tested by fitting a linear model and performing Levene's test. Fligner-Killeen's test was performed as a non-parametric equivalent of the latter.

Tukey's honest significant test or Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction (for non-normally distributed data) were performed as post-hoc analysis to account for multiple comparisons.

To provide a global picture and to simultaneously account for the effect of the different explanatory variables, a generalized linear model (GLM) was fitted, selecting as explanatory variables the dilution level, the sample processing method, the run, and the interaction between the method and run.

Datasets were created using Microsoft Excel \mathbb{C} . Subset management and statistical analysis were performed using R. The level of statistical significance for all considered tests was set at p<0.05.

3. Results and Discussions

3.1 Optimization Experiments.

During laboratory activity seven dilutions of a positive sample in a negative one were prepared and used for both the direct and standard method. We performed ssDNA extraction from 100 μ L of each point of the standard curve, whereas theirs DNA extraction was not required for the direct Real-Time PCR and the samples were used directly as templates.

The first part of our work consisted of exploring different preprocessing approaches allowing to optimize efficiency (i.e. E-value) and sensitivity (i.e. Cq values and number of detected dilutions) of the direct Real-Time PCR.

We initially performed a Real-Time PCR on the unprocessed samples and the extracted samples (see *Table 3*). This is the easiest protocol because it requires fewer steps to be performed.

	Extracted Samples	Non-extracted samples
Dilutions	Co	y values
PS	24.05	30.93
PS-1	28.46	31.74
PS-2	31.01	35.99
PS-3	37.54	37.54

Table 3 Cq values obtained from the Real-Time PCR performed on extracted and non-extracted samples. (PS=abbreviation for "Positive Sample" followed by a number representing its factor of dilution. Here only the dilutions in which we detected viral presence are shown).

We were able to identify viral presence in the first 4 dilutions for both the extracted and nonextracted samples. The difference in Cq values between the two methods decreases in more diluted samples (see *Table 3*).

Thereafter other optimization runs were compared to this one and to the standard method results to evaluate if preprocessing steps were worthy in terms of cost-benefit.

In a second run we decided to pretreat the non-extracted samples heating them at two different temperatures (Alcoba-Florez et al., 2020; Hamatani et al., 2006): 100°C and 55°C (see *Table 4*). We noticed that the samples that were heated at 100°C had a blurrier view than usual and also some precipitate under a gelled supernatant which made the sample difficult to handle (see *Figure 8*). We suspect that this can be due to the denaturation and jellification of proteins that might have been present in greater quantity in the unprocessed/non-extracted samples. It has been confirmed from previous studies that bovine and porcine plasma proteins when heated can lead to heat induced denaturation and aggregation of the proteins leading to the jellification. This can be described as an intermediate state between a solution and a precipitate. Solutions of porcine and bovine blood plasma have a viscosity that exhibits Newtonian behavior in the range 20°C to 73°C and then the viscosity exponentially increases forming a gel structure that is reversible when the solution is further heated up to 76°C and irreversible at 79°C (Hermansson et al., 1982; Howell & Lawrie, 1987; Howell & Lawrie, 1983).

	Non-extracted samples preheated at 55°C	Non-extracted samples preheated at 100°C
Dilutions		Cq values
PS	29.05	30.1
PS-1	34.13	38.07
PS-2	37.09	

Table 4: Cq values obtained from the Real-Time PCR of our non-extracted samples preheated at 55°C and 100°C.

After the Real-Time PCR run we observed that the number of positive samples detected decreased for both preheating protocols compared to those obtained with the direct method without preheating. Only 2 and 3 dilutions were detected for the samples pretreated at 100°C and 55°C respectively. Since only the original positive sample and the first dilution pretreated at 100°C were detected, it was not possible to calculate the efficiency of this reaction and thus make a comparison on this parameter.



Figure 9: Picture taken during our laboratory work of the samples pretreated at 100°C where blurriness and jellification of the supernatant and the precipitate can be easily observed.

To evaluate if intermediate temperatures could provide better results, the first dilution of the positive sample was pretreated at four other temperatures within the range of 55°C and 100°C (i.e. 60°C, 70°C, 80°C and 90°C).

Interestingly we noticed that also the sample that was heated at 90°C showed the same gelled supernatant and manipulation difficulty as the one we treated on the previous experiment with 100°C, confirming what was described by Howell and Lawrie, and Hermansson (Hermansson et al, 1982; Howell & Lawrie, 1987; Howell & Lawrie, 1983). After running the Real-Time PCR, viral detection was observed only for the samples heated at the first three temperatures while the sample treated at 90°C tested negative (see *Table 5*).

Temperature test on the non-extracted samples			
Temperatures Cq values			
60°C	33.69		
$70^{\circ}C$	35.59		
80°C	34.03		
90°C	NEG		

Table 5: Cq values obtained from the Real-Time PCR of non-extracted sample under different temperatures to evaluate the role of heating in the reaction efficiency

For the samples treated with 60°C, 70°C and 80°C there was an increased Cq values compared to untreated samples. Therefore, we decided to continue the assay optimization further implementing steps on the 55°C preheating protocol.

In attempt to maximize results of 55°C preheating protocol, the effects of centrifugation and pipetting were evaluated testing in the same run:

- A. PS-1 preheated at 55°C;
- B. PS-1 preheated at 55°C and pipetted before loading;
- C. PS-1 preheated at 55°C and centrifuged before loading.

Preheated, pipetted and Centrifuged samples.		
Sample	Cq value	
A	33.3	
В	34.65	
С	33.55	

Table 6. Cq values obtained from the Real-Time PCR of our non-extracted positive samples.

As we can observe from the *Table 6*, no significant differences in Cq values were observed. Therefore, for a final evaluation, we decided to compare the positive sample and its dilutions using the standard Real-Time PCR, the direct Real-Time PCR with and without 55°C preheating step.

	Extracted Samples	Non-extracted Samples	Non-extracted Samples
			preneated
Dilutions		Cq values	
PS	24.81	33.1	31.52
PS-1	28.32	32.22	33.32
PS-2	31.26	35.19	34.46
PS-3	34.42	41.6	
PS-4	35 77		-

Table 7: Cq values obtained from Real-Time PCR performed on extracted samples, non-extracted samples and non-extracted preheated samples.

At the end of the Real-Time PCR run we detected viral presence in:

- 5 dilutions for the extracted samples
- 4 dilutions for the non-extracted samples, and,
- 3 dilutions for the non-extracted and preheated (55°C) samples.

Not only fewer dilutions were detected with preheating, but also there was no significant difference between the Cq values of the heated and the non-heated samples.

After experimenting different additional processing steps (preheating, pipetting or centrifuging) we came to the conclusion that using all these extra steps does not considerably affect the efficiency and sensitivity of the reaction. Therefore, we reasonably decided to perform the repeatability evaluation by comparing the less time-consuming and easy protocol for the direct Real-Time PCR to the standard method.

3.2 Repeatability descriptive assessment

To fully validate the developed protocol, it is important to assess its repeatability and if it does provide standardized and reliable results.

As mentioned in the previous paragraph, in order to build a protocol as easier and efficient as possible, we decided to test the repeatability of the direct protocol without preheating since there were no significant differences worth the effort of any additional step.

Extracted Samples					
	Run A	Run B	Run C	CV	
Efficiency	2.33	2.53	2.43	4%	
Slope	-2.7185	-2.4808	-2.5906	-5%	
Detected dilutions	5	5	5		
Non-extracted Samples					
	Run A	Run B	Run C	CV	
Efficiency	2.53	1.81	1.77	21%	
Slope	-2.4836	-3.8667	-4.0131	-24%	
Detected dilutions	4	4	4		

After testing our samples in triplicates, in parallel both for the standard and the direct method in three different runs (Run A, B and C), the following results were obtained (see *Table 8*):

Table 8: Table representing the results obtained from the Real-Time PCR of the samples from the "Standard Method" (Extracted samples) and the samples from the "Direct Method" (Non-extracted samples). For each run the table shows the values of the efficiency, the slope, relative coefficient of variation (CV) expressed in percentage and number of detected dilutions.

Overall, the standard method provides greater repeatability of the reaction efficiency than the direct method, which shows more than 5-fold variability. Ideally, the number of cycles that should occur between a sample and the following 10-fold dilution is 3.32. It is interesting to observe that in each run, the standard method deviates more from 3.32 than the direct method. Except from Run A, a higher efficiency has been observed for the standard method (see *Table 8*). This could

be explained by the process of extraction that helps to reduce potential inhibitors of amplification reaction.

Logarithmic Concentrations								
	Extracted Samples			Non-extracted Samples			es	
Dilutions	Run A	Run B	Run C	Overall	Run A	Run B	Run C	Overall
PS	2.47%	4.62%	4.45%	3.67%	5.40%	6.82%	4.23%	8.81%
PS-1	7.62%	11.13%	6.74%	8.93%	41.25%	3.41%	6.10%	23.04%
PS-2	5.66%	3.47%	13.23%	10.52%	42.76%	10.75%	4.33%	42.25%
PS-3	44.27%	37.45%	19.39%	32.86%	498.76%	-500.48%	-326.24%	-655.47%
PS-4	11.95%	9.35%		9.74%	5.40%	6.82%	4.23%	8.81%

In general, therefore, the direct method manifests lower efficiency, with greater variability, which from the perspective of a protocol to be used in routine diagnosis is not ideal.

Table 9: Table representing the coefficient of variation (CV) of the logarithmic concentrations calculated for each run of the standard and direct method.

Considering the logarithmic concentration values obtained for each dilution in each run (see *Table 9*), in the overall, all PS (positive sample) dilutions show higher repeatability (lower variability) with extraction than with the direct method. In both methods, more diluted samples show lower within-method repeatability: this difference between dilutions is even more evident in the case of the direct method, further confirming the standardization that extraction confers. The fact that we loaded the non-extracted samples from the same eppendorf in each run further accentuates the importance of extraction in ensuring greater repeatability of the standard method and thus less susceptibility to the variability that possibly greater manipulation might generate. Moreover, using 100 microliters in the standard method against the 5 microliters of sample used in the direct method could have "spread" any difference within sample variability over a larger volume, further explaining the greater repeatability of the standard method. The use of a smaller amount of sample in the direct method might make it more susceptible to manipulation.

It seems there is no significant difference between runs within the same dilution and method. Looking at the difference between dilution PS-3 and the previous dilutions, the increase in variability is evident. Except for run B, in both methods, the concentration value registered for the original positive sample is always less variable than its dilutions. Overall, the closer the dilution is to the LOD, the more the repeatability decreases. Although dilution -4 shows less variability than some previous dilutions, since it did not result as a dilution in run C in sufficient numbers to calculate the standard deviation, an evaluation against the other dilutions would not be reliable.

3.3 Repeatability statistical assessment.

Only data for the original positive sample and of its first three dilutions were considered for statistical analysis since they were constantly detected by both of the two tested methods.

Boxplots in *Figure 10* show the results of the exploratory data analysis aimed to compare different dilutions in terms of logarithmic concentration values within the standard method (10A) and the direct method (10B) and the overall without stratifying per method (10C). In the standard method (10A), higher viral titers have been estimated compared to the direct method (10B).

The application of the direct method (*Figure 10*B) seems to be associated with a wider distribution (i.e. higher variability) of the estimated logarithmic concentration values. For both methods (*Figure 10*A and *10*B) a greater variability can be observed for samples at the highest dilution (1/1000, named as -3).



Figure 10: Comparison of the logarithmic concentration value distributions between dilutions A) with DNA extraction, B) without DNA extraction, and C) overall. Dilution labels refer to the original positive sample (0), diluted 10 (-1), 100 (-2) and 1000 (-3) times.

The greater variability and the lower estimated logarithmical concentration values observed in the direct method boxplots (10B) suggest an association between the method and the estimated concentration.

For both methods (10A and 10B) and also in the overall (10C), boxplots showed a decrease of 1 logarithm in the concentration values over the serial dilution levels, which is indicative of a proper dilution process in samples preparation.



Figure 11: Interaction plots considering the run as trace factor of the logarithmic concentration values according to the method (E: with DNA extraction; NE: without DNA extraction) applied. Results for each dilution data subset are presented with different colors for each method.

Figure 11 illustrates the variation of the estimated concentration values according to the run for each method, thus providing a graphical representation of both the repeatability within the method for each dilution and a comparison between the two applied methods.

For both methods, an increase in titer heterogenicity was observed at higher dilutions (*Figure 11*), thus indicating lower repeatability between runs at lower viral titers.

Comparing the two methods, within dilution level, lower estimated concentration values of about 1 logarithmic unit were detected for the direct method, similarly to what is illustrated in *Figure* 10A compared to 10B.

Moreover, dot-connecting lines are less parallel in the direct method, suggesting a greater variability between runs without sample extraction.

Accordingly, the distance between dilution lines is less constant within the direct method, thus signaling a greater variability of the reaction efficiency when samples are not extracted. Therefore, it is plausible that the extraction process guarantees a lower variability both between different runs and in the efficiency of amplification reactions, as well as a lower inhibition in the Real-Time PCR reaction.

Statistical analysis performed confirmed what was shown by the graphs.

For the undiluted sample (0), estimated logarithmic concentration values were normally distributed for both method data subsets, and all the method-group and run-group variances were equal. ANOVA test identified a significant difference in the logarithmic concentration values between the two methods, between methods according to the run but not between runs. Post-hoc analysis for multiple comparisons revealed that the interaction between method and run identified by ANOVA was due to a significant difference between methods in any combination of runs, and between some runs within the direct method.

Logarithmic concentration values of samples diluted 1/10 (-1) were normally distributed only when extraction was performed, whereas homogeneity of variances was respected. Kruskal-Wallis test identified a significant difference in the estimated logarithmic concentration values between the two methods, between methods according to the run and not between runs. As observed with the undiluted samples (0), post-hoc analysis for multiple comparisons showed that the identified interaction between method and run was due to a significant difference between methods in any combination of runs, and between some runs within the direct method.

Normal distribution and homogeneity of variances were observed for logarithmic concentration values of samples diluted 1/100 (-2) for both method data subsets. ANOVA test identified a significant difference between the two methods, between methods according to the run and, unlike what was observed for previous dilutions, also between runs. An explanation of the spotted difference between runs was provided performing the post-hoc analysis: in the pairwise comparison between specific combinations of method and run, a significant difference between the two methods in any run comparison and between some runs within the direct method was identified, similarly to what described for the logarithmic concentration values of the 0 and -1 dilution data subsets. Thus, the difference within the direct method for 0 and -1 diluted samples was narrower than that observed for -2 diluted samples, which is why no statistically significant between-run difference was identified for previous dilutions.

Having identified a significant difference between runs within the direct method in the mean logarithmic concentration values of 0, -1, and -2 diluted samples suggests that the direct method doesn't guarantee repeatability as strong as the standard method does (*Figure 11*).

Considering logarithmic concentration values of samples diluted 1/1000 (-3), a significant difference between methods was estimated when the results of all the runs were considered; however, no difference was detected comparing the methods within each run. The greater variability registered for more diluted samples could explain this phenomenon: the concentration estimation approximating the LOD occurred with a greater variability that led to a higher "noise", thus decreasing the statistical power that was instead sufficient for other dilutions in which the

variability was lower. A larger sample number for higher dilution levels could have counterbalanced the lower statistical power, thus increasing the chances of confirming the difference between methods within each run that was instead observed in less diluted samples (*Figure 10*).

The fitted GLM has further confirmed what *Figure 10* and *Figure 11* graphically show and the statistical associations described by ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis test.

GLM dilution, method, and interaction between method and run as potential meaningful predictors of the estimated mean logarithmic concentration value of the analyte. According to this model, for each 10 folds' dilution, the mean logarithmic concentration value decreases by almost 1 unit, confirming the proper execution of dilution at the time of sample preparation (*Figures 10* and *11*).

The application of the direct method against the standard method on the same samples led to an underestimation in average concentration values of 1.37 logarithmic units (*Figure 10*A compared to 10B). The significant role of the interaction between method and run as a predictor of the mean logarithmic concentration value was demonstrated while the effect of run alone was not significant.

Therefore, GLM results confirm what is described by ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis test and posthoc analysis per each dilution data subset, consistently suggesting lower repeatability of the direct method compared to the standard one, thus providing a global and summed explanation of the difference observed in the estimated logarithmic concentration values.

Overall, the standard method provides greater repeatability of the reaction efficiency than the direct method, which shows more than 5-fold variability. Ideally, the number of cycles that should occur between a sample and the same sample diluted 10 times is 3.32. It is interesting to observe that in each run, the standard method deviates more from 3.32 than the direct method, which on average deviates less. The overall lower efficiency of the standard method could be also explained by the process of extraction that could lower itself the Real-Time PCR efficiency: in the standard method efficiency it's included also the efficiency of the extraction process.

In general, therefore, the direct method manifests higher efficiency, albeit with greater variability, which from the perspective of a protocol to be used in routine diagnosis is not ideal.

4. Conclusions.

PCV-2, which is currently known to have 9 genotypes, is a widespread virus that has a big impact on the pig industry. Besides all the benefits that vaccination has on controlling disease development and spreading of PCV-2, they can still disrupt the equilibrium among the pathogen and its host and alter the competitive hierarchy between viral genotypes (Williams et al, 2010) leading to the continuous emergence of new variants (Constans et al., 2015; Opriessnig et al., 2020; Segalés, 2015; Timmusk et al., 2008; Wiederkehr et al., 2009; Xiao et al., 2015a). This contributes to concerns regarding the effectiveness of these vaccines, considering that some failures have been reported recently. (Opriessnig et al., 2013; Seo et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2012). Thus, the rapid identification of these pathogens can still help maintain the disease under control and prevent as more economical damages as possible.

Additionally, the effort of developing rapid and cheaper protocols is necessary especially for those countries whose economical resources are limited and where access to vaccination, advanced technologies or extraction kits is not as easy and affordable as it is for other countries (Ariyama et al., 2021; Barman et al., 2018; Chae, 2012; Deka et al., 2021; Franzo et al., 2022; Xiao et al., 2015a).

Moreover, even though performing a standard Real-Time PCR can provide a higher diagnostic sensitivity, for farmers, above all in developing countries, what is important is to have an effective method accurately identifying the presence or absence of a pathogen that at the same time guarantees reduced costs and simplified procedures. Performing a direct Real-Time PCR reduces both costs and time needed for experiments, requiring less reagents and no extraction kits (which have a considerable price). A summary of the main differences in advantages and disadvantages between direct and standard Real-Time PCR is presented in *Table 10*.

Method Comparison			
Direct Real-Time PCR	Standard Real-Time PCR		
Rapid.	Time-consuming.		
No extra reagents needed except the Real- Time PCR reaction kit.	Expensive extraction kits needed, leading to supply chain gaps.		
Real-Time PCR sample preparation only. Less manual handling.	Extra manual handling potentially enhancing experimental errors.		
Potential inhibitors interfering with target amplification.	Lessening of potential inhibitors interfering with target amplification.		
Higher variability and lower efficiency.	Lower variability and higher efficiency.		
Table 10: Comparison table of direct Real-Time PCR and	standard Real-Time PCR.		

Considering results obtained by the experimental work here presented, better results were observed in terms of sensitivity and repeatability for the standard method.

Nevertheless, the direct Real-Time PCR methods for the detection of PCV-2, and not only, can still be considered a good tool for rapid detection when resources are limited although there is still need for further research to be done in order to optimize this method and increase its accuracy. When it comes to diagnostic procedures the direct method can have both some advantages and drawbacks depending on the reason Real-Time PCR is performed. In case of need of accurate results and high risk or serious consequences involved, then the standard method will be more appropriate because it guarantees higher efficiency and a lower result variability.

On the other hand, the direct method can still provide results, that in certain scenarios can be a good compromise between its lower accuracy and the need of a detection method when resources are limited and urgency emerges. Moreover, in presence of clinical signs, PCV-2 viral load is supposed to be higher, thus guarantying positive results allowing to ignore sensitivity and repeatability deficiencies observed mainly at lower concentrated samples.

An optimized direct method overcoming sensitivity and repeatability limitations could have even a wider usage in the future for the rapid detection of already known and emerging pathogens.

Bibliography

- Alcoba-Florez, J., González-Montelongo, R., Íñigo-Campos, A., de Artola, D. G. M., Gil-Campesino, H., The Microbiology Technical Support Team, Ciuffreda, L., Valenzuela-Fernández, A., & Flores, C. (2020). Fast SARS-CoV-2 detection by RT-qPCR in preheated nasopharyngeal swab samples. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 97, 66–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJID.2020.05.099
- Ariyama, N., Agüero, B., Valdés, V., Berrios, F., Bucarey, S., Mor, S., Brito, B., & Neira, V. (2021). Update of Genetic Diversity of Porcine Circovirus Type 2 in Chile Evidences the Emergence of PCV2d Genotype. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/FVETS.2021.789491
- Barman, N. N., Nath, B., Kumar, V., Sen, A., Dutta, T. K., Dutta, B., Rahman, T., & Kumar, S. (2018). The emergence of porcine circovirus 2 infections in the Northeastern part of India: A retrospective study from 2011 to 2017. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 65(6), 1959– 1967. https://doi.org/10.1111/TBED.12977
- Beach, N. M., & Meng, X. J. (2012). Efficacy and future prospects of commercially available and experimental vaccines against porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2). *Virus Research*, 164(1–2), 33–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VIRUSRES.2011.09.041
- Blanchard, P., Mahé, D., Cariolet, R., Keranflec'h, A., Baudouard, M. A., Cordioli, P., Albina, E., & Jestin, A. (2003). Protection of swine against post-weaning multisystemic wasting syndrome (PMWS) by porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) proteins. *Vaccine*, 21(31), 4565– 4575. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00503-6
- Buchan, B. W., Gerstbrein, D., Cruz, A., Hoff, J., Sievert, E., Ledeboer, N. A., & Faron, M. L. (2021). Evaluation of a High-Definition PCR Assay for the Detection of SARS-CoV-2 in Extracted and Nonextracted Respiratory Specimens Collected in Various Transport Media. *Am J Clin Pathol*, 156, 24–33. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcp/aqab060
- Carman, S., Cai, H. Y., DeLay, J., Youssef, S. A., McEwen, B. J., Gagnon, C. A., Tremblay, D., Hazlett, M., Lusis, P., Fairles, J., Alexander, H. S., & van Dreumel, T. (2008). The emergence of a new strain of porcine circovirus-2 in Ontario and Quebec swine and its association with severe porcine circovirus associated disease--2004-2006. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research = Revue Canadienne de Recherche Veterinaire*, 72(3), 259–268. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/pmid/18505190/?tool=EBI
- Carman, S., McEwen, B., DeLay, J., van Dreumel, T., Lusis, P., Cai, H., & Fairles, J. (2006). Porcine circovirus-2 associated disease in swine in Ontario (2004 to 2005): ONTARIO. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 47(8), 761. /pmc/articles/PMC1524839/
- Čepin, U. (2017, November 15). Understanding qPCR Efficiency and Why It Exceeds 100%. https://biosistemika.com/blog/qpcr-efficiency-over-100/
- Chae, C. (2012). Commercial porcine circovirus type 2 vaccines: efficacy and clinical application. *Veterinary Journal (London, England: 1997)*, 194(2), 151–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TVJL.2012.06.031

- Chaiyakul, M., Hsu, K., Dardari, R., Marshall, F., & Czub, M. (2010). Cytotoxicity of ORF3 Proteins from a Nonpathogenic and a Pathogenic Porcine Circovirus. *Journal of Virology*, 84(21), 11440–11447. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01030-10/ASSET/F3AB6473-996A-42C0-B32F-27EF9E8847C5/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/ZJV9990938650006.JPEG
- Chen, N., Xiao, Y., Li, X., Li, S., Xie, N., Yan, X., Li, X., & Zhu, J. (2021). Development and application of a quadruplex real-time PCR assay for differential detection of porcine circoviruses (PCV1 to PCV4) in Jiangsu province of China from 2016 to 2020. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 68(3), 1615–1624. https://doi.org/10.1111/TBED.13833
- Cheung, A. K. (2003a). Transcriptional Analysis of Porcine Circovirus Type 2. *Virology*, 305(1), 168–180. https://doi.org/10.1006/VIRO.2002.1733
- Cheung, A. K. (2003b). Comparative analysis of the transcriptional patterns of pathogenic and nonpathogenic porcine circoviruses. *Virology*, *310*(1), 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6822(03)00096-5
- Chung, W. Bin, Chan, W. H., Chaung, H. C., Lien, Y., Wu, C. C., & Huang, Y. L. (2005). Realtime PCR for quantitation of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus and porcine circovirus type 2 in naturally-infected and challenged pigs. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 124(1–2), 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JVIROMET.2004.10.003
- Ciacci-Zanella, J. R., & Morés, N. (2003). Diagnosis of post-weaning multisystemic wasting syndrome in pigs in Brazil caused by porcine circovirus type 2. Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia, 55(5), 522–527. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-09352003000500002
- Constans, M., Ssemadaali, M., Kolyvushko, O., & Ramamoorthy, S. (2015). Antigenic Determinants of Possible Vaccine Escape by Porcine Circovirus Subtype 2b Viruses. *Bioinformatics and Biology Insights*, 9(Suppl 2), 1. https://doi.org/10.4137/BBI.S30226
- Cortey, M., Pileri, E., Sibila, M., Pujols, J., Balasch, M., Plana, J., & Segalés, J. (2011). Genotypic shift of porcine circovirus type 2 from PCV-2a to PCV-2b in Spain from 1985 to 2008. *Veterinary Journal (London, England: 1997)*, 187(3), 363–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TVJL.2009.12.023
- Deka, D., Barman, N. N., Deka, N., Batth, B. K., Singh, G., Singh, S., Agrawal, R. K., Mukhopadhyay, C. S., & Ramneek. (2021). Sero-epidemiology of porcine parvovirus, circovirus, and classical swine fever virus infections in India. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 53(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/S11250-021-02587-5
- Drew, T. W. (2011). The emergence and evolution of swine viral diseases: To what extent have husbandry systems and global trade contributed to their distribution and diversity? *OIE Revue Scientifique et Technique*, *30*(1), 95–106. https://doi.org/10.20506/RST.30.1.2020
- Dulac, G. C., & Afshar, A. (1989). Porcine circovirus antigens in PK-15 cell line (ATCC CCL-33) and evidence of antibodies to circovirus in Canadian pigs. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*, 53(4), 431. /pmc/articles/PMC1255571/?report=abstract

Edwards, S., & Sands, J. J. (1994). Evidence of circovirus infection in British pigs. The Veterinary

Record, 134(26), 680-681. https://doi.org/10.1136/VR.134.26.680

- Ellis, J. (2014). Porcine circovirus: a historical perspective. *Veterinary Pathology*, *51*(2), 315–327. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985814521245
- Fenaux, M., Opriessnig, T., Halbur, P. G., Elvinger, F., & Meng, X. J. (2004). A chimeric porcine circovirus (PCV) with the immunogenic capsid gene of the pathogenic PCV type 2 (PCV2) cloned into the genomic backbone of the nonpathogenic PCV1 induces protective immunity against PCV2 infection in pigs. *Journal of Virology*, 78(12), 6297–6303. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.78.12.6297-6303.2004
- Fort, M., Sibila, M., Pérez-Martín, E., Nofrarías, M., Mateu, E., & Segalés, J. (2009). One dose of a porcine circovirus 2 (PCV2) sub-unit vaccine administered to 3-week-old conventional piglets elicits cell-mediated immunity and significantly reduces PCV2 viremia in an experimental model. *Vaccine*, 27(30), 4031–4037. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VACCINE.2009.04.028
- Fort, M, Sibila, M., Nofrarías, M., Pérez-Martín, E., Olvera, A., Mateu, E., & Segalés, J. (2012). Evaluation of cell-mediated immune responses against porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) Cap and Rep proteins after vaccination with a commercial PCV2 sub-unit vaccine. *Veterinary Immunology* and *Immunopathology*, 150(1–2), 128–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETIMM.2012.09.001
- Franzo, G., Cortey, M., Segalés, J., Hughes, J., & Drigo, M. (2016). Phylodynamic analysis of porcine circovirus type 2 reveals global waves of emerging genotypes and the circulation of recombinant forms. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 100, 269–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YMPEV.2016.04.028
- Franzo, G., He, W., Correa-Fiz, F., Li, G., Legnardi, M., Su, S., & Segalés, J. (2019). A Shift in Porcine Circovirus 3 (PCV-3) History Paradigm: Phylodynamic Analyses Reveal an Ancient Origin and Prolonged Undetected Circulation in the Worldwide Swine Population. Advanced Science, 6(22), 1901004. https://doi.org/10.1002/ADVS.201901004
- Franzo, G., & Segalé, J. (2018). Porcine circovirus 2 (PCV-2) genotype update and proposal of a new genotyping methodology. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0208585
- Franzo, G., Settypalli, T. B. K., Agusi, E. R., Meseko, C., Minoungou, G., Ouoba, B. L., Habibata, Z. L., Wade, A., de Barros, J. L., Tshilenge, C. G., Gelaye, E., Yami, M., Gizaw, D., Chibssa, T. R., Anahory, I. V., Mapaco, L. P., Achá, S. J., Ijomanta, J., Jambol, A. R., ... Dundon, W. G. (2022). Porcine circovirus-2 in Africa: Identification of continent-specific clusters and evidence of independent viral introductions from Europe, North America and Asia. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, *69*(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/TBED.14400
- Ge, M., Luo, W., Jiang, D., Li, R., Zhao, W., Chen, G., Yang, X., & Yu, X. (2012). Development and application of a double-antigen sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for detection of antibodies to porcine circovirus 2. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology : CVI*, 19(9), 1480–1486. https://doi.org/10.1128/CVI.00234-12
- Goldstein, M., & Watkins, S. (2008). Immunohistochemistry. Current Protocols in Molecular Biology, 81(1), 14.6.1-14.6.23. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142727.MB1406S81

- Grau-Roma, L., Fraile, L., & Segalés, J. (2011). Recent advances in the epidemiology, diagnosis and control of diseases caused by porcine circovirus type 2. *The Veterinary Journal*, 187(1), 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TVJL.2010.01.018
- Ha, Z., Yu, C., Xie, C., Wang, G., Zhang, Y., Hao, P., Li, J., Li, Z., Li, Y., Rong, F., Nan, F., Zhang, H., Zhuang, X., Xie, Y., Shi, N., Lu, H., & Jin, N. (2021). Retrospective surveillance of porcine circovirus 4 in pigs in Inner Mongolia, China, from 2016 to 2018. Archives of Virology, 166(7), 1951–1959. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00705-021-05088-W/FIGURES/3
- Hamatani, K., Eguchi, H., Takahashi, K., Koyama, K., Mukai, M., Ito, R., Taga, M., Yasui, W., & Nakachi, K. (2006). Improved RT-PCR amplification for molecular analyses with long-term preserved formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue specimens. *Journal of Histochemistry* and Cytochemistry, 54(7), 773–780. https://doi.org/10.1369/JHC.5A6859.2006
- Hamel, A. L., Lin, L. L., & Nayar, G. P. S. (1998). Nucleotide Sequence of Porcine Circovirus Associated with Postweaning Multisystemic Wasting Syndrome in Pigs. *Journal of Virology*, 72(6), 5262–5267. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.72.6.5262-5267.1998
- Hancox, L. (2021). *PCV2 disease and economic impact in pigs* | *The Pig Site*. https://www.thepigsite.com/articles/pcv2-disease-and-economic-impact-in-pigs
- Hermansson, A. -M. (1982). Gel Characteristics—Structure as Related to Texture and Waterbinding of Blood Plasma Gels. *Journal of Food Science*, 47(6), 1965–1972. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2621.1982.TB12924.X
- Higuchi, R., Dollinger, G., Sean Walsh, P., & Griffith, R. (1992). Simultaneous Amplification and Detection of Specific DNA Sequences. *Bio/Technology* 1992 10:4, 10(4), 413–417. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt0492-413
- Hoffmann, B., Beer, M., Reid, S. M., Mertens, P., Oura, C. A. L., van Rijn, P. A., Slomka, M. J., Banks, J., Brown, I. H., Alexander, D. J., & King, D. P. (2009). A review of RT-PCR technologies used in veterinary virology and disease control: Sensitive and specific diagnosis of five livestock diseases notifiable to the World Organisation for Animal Health. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 139(1–2), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2009.04.034
- Hofman, F. (2002). Immunohistochemistry. *Current Protocols in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142735.IM2104849
- Hofman, F. M., & Taylor, C. R. (2013). Immunohistochemistry. *Current Protocols in Immunology*,103(SUPPL.103),21.4.1-21.4.26. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142735.im2104s103
- Holland, P. M., Abramson, R. D., Watson, R., & Gelfand, D. H. (1991). Detection of specific polymerase chain reaction product by utilizing the 5'-* 3' exonuclease activity of Thermus aquaticus DNA polymerase (ofigonucleotide probe/human immunodeficiency virus). In *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* (Vol. 88). https://www.pnas.org
- Hou, C. Y., Zhang, L. H., Zhang, Y. H., Cui, J. T., Zhao, L., Zheng, L. L., & Chen, H. Y. (2022). Phylogenetic analysis of porcine circovirus 4 in Henan Province of China: A retrospective study from 2011 to 2021. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 69(4), 1890–1901. https://doi.org/10.1111/TBED.14172

- Howell, N. K., & Lawrie, R. A. (1987). Functional aspects of blood plasma proteins. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 22(2), 145–151. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2621.1987.TB00469.X
- Howell, N. K., & Lawrie, R. A. (1983). Functional aspects of blood plasma proteins. I. Separation and characterization. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 18(6), 747–762. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2621.1983.TB00313.X
- Jensen, E. (2014). Technical Review: In Situ Hybridization. *The Anatomical Record*, 297(8), 1349–1353. https://doi.org/10.1002/AR.22944
- Jiang, Y., Guo, Y., Wang, P., Dong, Q., Opriessnig, T., Cheng, J., & Xu, H. (2011). A novel diagnostic platform based on multiplex ligase detection – PCR and microarray for simultaneous detection of swine viruses. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 178(1–2), 171–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2011.09.008
- Juhan, N. M., LeRoith, T., Opriessnig, T., & Meng, X. J. (2010). The open reading frame 3 (ORF3) of porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) is dispensable for virus infection but evidence of reduced pathogenicity is limited in pigs infected by an ORF3-null PCV2 mutant. *Virus Research*, 147(1), 60–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VIRUSRES.2009.10.007
- Karuppannan, A. K., Jong, M. H., Lee, S. H., Zhu, Y., Selvaraj, M., Lau, J., Jia, Q., & Kwang, J. (2009). Attenuation of porcine circovirus 2 in SPF piglets by abrogation of ORF3 function. *Virology*, 383(2), 338–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VIROL.2008.10.024
- Kedkovid, R., Woonwong, Y., Arunorat, J., Sirisereewan, C., Sangpratum, N., Lumyai, M., Kesdangsakonwut, S., Teankum, K., Jittimanee, S., & Thanawongnuwech, R. (2018). Porcine circovirus type 3 (PCV3) infection in grower pigs from a Thai farm suffering from porcine respiratory disease complex (PRDC). *Veterinary Microbiology*, 215, 71–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2018.01.004
- Kekarainen, T., McCullough, K., Fort, M., Fossum, C., Segalés, J., & Allan, G. M. (2010). Immune responses and vaccine-induced immunity against Porcine circovirus type 2. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology, 136(3–4), 185–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETIMM.2010.03.025
- Klaumann, F., Franzo, G., Sohrmann, M., Correa-Fiz, F., Drigo, M., Núñez, J. I., Sibila, M., & Segalés, J. (2018). Retrospective detection of Porcine circovirus 3 (PCV-3) in pig serum samples from Spain. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 65(5), 1290–1296. https://doi.org/10.1111/TBED.12876
- Klaumann, F, Correa-Fiz, F., Franzo, G., Sibila, M., Núñez, J. I., & Segalés, J. (2018). Current knowledge on Porcine circovirus 3 (PCV-3): A novel virus with a yet unknown impact on the swine industry. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 5(DEC), 315. https://doi.org/10.3389/FVETS.2018.00315/BIBTEX
- Klaumann, F, Correa-Fiz, F., Sibila, M., Núñez, J. I., & Segalés, J. (2019). Infection dynamics of porcine circovirus type 3 in longitudinally sampled pigs from four Spanish farms. *Veterinary Record*, 184(20), 619–619. https://doi.org/10.1136/VR.105219

Kwon, T., Lee, D. U., Yoo, S. J., Je, S. H., Shin, J. Y., & Lyoo, Y. S. (2017). Genotypic diversity

of porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) and genotype shift to PCV2d in Korean pig population. *Virus Research*, 228, 24–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VIRUSRES.2016.11.015

- Ladekjaer-Mikkelsen, A. S., Nielsen, J., Storgaard, T., Bøtner, A., Allan, G., & McNeilly, F. (2001). Transplacental infection with PCV-2 associated with reproductive failure in a gilt. *VetRecord*, *148*(24), 759–760.
- Lian, Z., Liu, J., Liu, P., Zhu, Z., Yao, X., Yuan, L., Hu, D., Jiang, Y., Chen, C., Chen, N., & Li, X. (2021). Development and application of an indirect ELISA for the detection of antibody to porcine circovirus 4 in pigs. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 68(6), 2975–2979. https://doi.org/10.1111/TBED.14267
- Liu, J., Chen, I., Du, Q., Chua, H., & Kwang, J. (2006). The ORF3 Protein of Porcine Circovirus Type 2 Is Involved in Viral Pathogenesis In Vivo. *Journal of Virology*, 80(10), 5065–5073. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.80.10.5065-5073.2006/ASSET/39F1308E-167D-490B-87D5-65B27AF0D9AD/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/ZJV0100677500006.JPEG
- Lübke, N., Senff, T., Scherger, S., Hauka, S., Andrée, M., Adams, O., Timm, J., & Walker, A. (2020). Extraction-free SARS-CoV-2 detection by rapid RT-qPCR universal for all primary respiratory materials. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 130. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCV.2020.104579
- Lv, Q., Guo, K., Xu, H., Wang, T., & Zhang, Y. (2015). Identification of Putative ORF5 Protein of Porcine Circovirus Type 2 and Functional Analysis of GFP-Fused ORF5 Protein. *PloS One*, 10(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0127859
- Madec, F., Eveno, E., Morvan, P., Hamon, L., Blanchard, P., Cariolet, R., Amenna, N., Morvan, H., Truong, C., Mahé, D., Albina, E., & Jestin, A. (2000). Post-weaning multisystemic wasting syndrome (PMWS) in pigs in France: clinical observations from follow-up studies on affected farms. *Livestock Production Science*, 63(3), 223–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(99)00138-4
- Mankertz, A., Mankertz, J., Wolf, K., & Buhk, H. J. (1998). Identification of a protein essential for replication of porcine circovirus. *Journal of General Virology*, 79(2), 381–384. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-79-2-381/CITE/REFWORKS
- Mankertz, J., Buhk, H. J., Blaess, G., & Mankertz, A. (1998). Transcription Analysis of Porcine Circovirus (PCV). Virus Genes 1998 16:3, 16(3), 267–276. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008022521329
- Martín, J., Tena, N., & Asuero, A. G. (2021). Current state of diagnostic, screening and surveillance testing methods for COVID-19 from an analytical chemistry point of view. *Microchemical Journal*, 167. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MICROC.2021.106305
- McNeilly, F., Kennedy, S., Moffett, D., Meehan, B. M., Foster, J. C., Clarke, E. G., Ellis, J. A., Haines, D. M., Adair, B. M., & Allan, G. M. (1999). A comparison of in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry for the detection of a new porcine circovirus in formalin-fixed tissues from pigs with post-weaning multisystemic wasting syndrome (PMWS). *Journal of Virological Methods*, 80(2), 123–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-0934(99)00043-9

Meehan, B. M., McNeilly, F., Todd, D., Kennedy, S., Jewhurst, V. A., Ellis, J. A., Hassard, L. E.,

Clark, E. G., Haines, D. M., & Allan, G. M. (1998). Characterization of novel circovirus DNAs associated with wasting syndromes in pigs. *The Journal of General Virology*, 79 (*Pt 9*)(9), 2171–2179. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-79-9-2171

- Navarro, E., Serrano-Heras, G., Castaño, M. J., & Solera, J. (2015). Real-time PCR detection chemistry. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 439, 231–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CCA.2014.10.017
- Nawagitgul, P., Harms, P. A., Morozov, I., Thacker, B. J., Sorden, S. D., Lekcharoensuk, C., & Paul, P. S. (2002). Modified indirect porcine circovirus (PCV) type 2-based and recombinant capsid protein (ORF2)-based enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays for detection of antibodies to PCV. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*, 9(1), 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1128/CDLI.9.1.33-40.2002
- Nguyen, V. G., Do, H. Q., Huynh, T. M. Le, Park, Y. H., Park, B. K., & Chung, H. C. (2022). Molecular-based detection, genetic characterization and phylogenetic analysis of porcine circovirus 4 from Korean domestic swine farms. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 69(2), 538–548. https://doi.org/10.1111/TBED.14017
- Opriessnig, T., Yu, S., Gallup, J. M., Evans, R. B., Fenaux, M., Pallares, F., Thacker, E. L., Brockus, C. W., Ackermann, M. R., Thomas, P., Meng, X. J., & Halbur, P. G. (2003). Effect of vaccination with selective bacterins on conventional pigs infected with type 2 porcine circovirus. *Veterinary Pathology*, 40(5), 521–529. https://doi.org/10.1354/VP.40-5-521
- Opriessnig, T, Karuppannan, A. K., Castro, A. M. M. G., & Xiao, C. T. (2020). Porcine circoviruses: current status, knowledge gaps and challenges. *Virus Research*, 286. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VIRUSRES.2020.198044
- Opriessnig, T, Meng, X. J., & Halbur, P. G. (2007). Porcine circovirus type 2 associated disease: update on current terminology, clinical manifestations, pathogenesis, diagnosis, and intervention strategies. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation : Official Publication* of the American Association of Veterinary Laboratory Diagnosticians, Inc, 19(6), 591–615. https://doi.org/10.1177/104063870701900601
- Opriessnig, Tanja, Xiao, C. T., Gerber, P. F., & Halbur, P. G. (2013). Emergence of a novel mutant PCV2b variant associated with clinical PCVAD in two vaccinated pig farms in the U.S. concurrently infected with PPV2. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 163(1–2), 177–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2012.12.019
- Palinski, R., Piñeyro, P., Shang, P., Yuan, F., Guo, R., Fang, Y., Byers, E., & Hause, B. M. (2017). A Novel Porcine Circovirus Distantly Related to Known Circoviruses Is Associated with Porcine Dermatitis and Nephropathy Syndrome and Reproductive Failure. *Journal of Virology*, 91(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01879-16
- Park, K. H., & Chae, C. (2021). The prevalence of porcine circovirus type 2e (PCV2e) in Korean slaughter pig lymph nodes when compared with other PCV2 genotypes. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 68(6), 3043–3047. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13975
- Phan, T. G., Giannitti, F., Rossow, S., Marthaler, D., Knutson, T., Li, L., Deng, X., Resende, T., Vannucci, F., & Delwart, E. (2016). Detection of a novel circovirus PCV3 in pigs with cardiac and multi-systemic inflammation. *Virology Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-016-0642-z

- Qi, S., Su, M., Guo, D., Li, C., Wei, S., Feng, L., & Sun, D. (2019). Molecular detection and phylogenetic analysis of porcine circovirus type 3 in 21 Provinces of China during 2015– 2017. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 66(2), 1004–1015. https://doi.org/10.1111/TBED.13125
- Rajh, E., Šket, T., Praznik, A., Sušjan, P., Šmid, A., Urbančič, D., Mlinarič-Raščan, I., Kogovšek,
 P., Demšar, T., Milavec, M., Prosenc Trilar, K., Jensterle, Ž., Zidarn, M., Tomič, V., Turel,
 G., Lejko-Zupanc, T., Jerala, R., Benčina, M., & Keseru, G. M. (2021). Robust Saliva-Based
 RNA Extraction-Free One-Step Nucleic Acid Amplification Test for Mass SARS-CoV-2
 Monitoring Academic Editors: Radim Nencka. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26216617
- Segalés, J., Olvera, A., Grau-Roma, L., Charreyre, C., Nauwynck, H., Larsen, L., Dupont, K., McCullough, K., Ellis, J., Krakowka, S., Mankertz, A., Fredholm, M., Fossum, C., Timmusk, S., Stockhofe-Zurwieden, N., Beattie, V., Armstrong, D., Grassland, B., Baekbo, B., & Allan, G. (2008). PCV-2 genotype definition and nomenclature; PCV-2 genotype definition and nomenclature. *The Veterinary Record*, *162*(26), 867–868. https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.162.26.867
- Segalés, Joaquim. (2015). Best practice and future challenges for vaccination against porcine circovirus type 2. 14(3), 473–487. https://doi.org/10.1586/14760584.2015.983084
- Seo, H. W., Park, C., Kang, I., Choi, K., Jeong, J., Park, S. J., & Chae, C. (2014). Genetic and antigenic characterization of a newly emerging porcine circovirus type 2b mutant first isolated in cases of vaccine failure in Korea. *Archives of Virology*, 159(11), 3107–3111. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00705-014-2164-6
- Shen, H., Liu, X., Zhang, P., Wang, L., Liu, Y., Zhang, L., Liang, P., & Song, C. (2018). Genome characterization of a porcine circovirus type 3 in South China. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 65(1), 264–266. https://doi.org/10.1111/TBED.12639
- Smyrlaki, I., Ekman, M., Lentini, A., Rufino De Sousa, N., Papanicolaou, N., Vondracek, M., Aarum, J., Safari, H., Muradrasoli, S., Rothfuchs, A. G., Albert, J., Högberg, B., & Reinius, B. (2020). *Massive and rapid COVID-19 testing is feasible by extraction-free SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18611-5
- Sun, W., Du, Q., Han, Z., Bi, J., Lan, T., Wang, W., & Zheng, M. (2021). Detection and genetic characterization of porcine circovirus 4 (PCV4) in Guangxi, China. *Gene*, 773. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GENE.2020.145384
- Timmusk, S., Wallgren, P., Brunborg, I. M., Wikström, F. H., Allan, G., Meehan, B., McMenamy, M., McNeilly, F., Fuxler, L., Belák, K., Põdersoo, D., Saar, T., Berg, M., & Fossum, C. (2008). Phylogenetic analysis of porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) pre- and post-epizootic postweaning multisystemic wasting syndrome (PMWS). *Virus Genes*, 36(3), 509–520. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11262-008-0217-1
- Tischer, I., Rasch, R., & Tochtermann, G. (1974). Characterization of papovavirus and picornavirus like particles in permanent pig kidney cell lines. *ZBL.BAKT.REIHE A*, 226(2), 153–167.
- Tischer, I, Mields, W., Wolff, D., Vagt, M., & Griem, W. (1986). Archives of Virology Studies on Epidemiology and Pathogenicity of Porcine Circovirus. In *Arch Virol* (Vol. 91).

- Vidigal, P. M. P., Mafra, C. L., Silva, F. M. F., Fietto, J. L. R., Silva Júnior, A., & Almeida, M. R. (2012). Tripping over emerging pathogens around the world: A phylogeographical approach for determining the epidemiology of Porcine circovirus-2 (PCV-2), considering global trading. *Virus Research*, 163(1), 320–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VIRUSRES.2011.10.019
- Wang, Y., Noll, L., Lu, N., Porter, E., Stoy, C., Zheng, W., Liu, X., Peddireddi, L., Niederwerder, M., & Bai, J. (2020). Genetic diversity and prevalence of porcine circovirus type 3 (PCV3) and type 2 (PCV2) in the Midwest of the USA during 2016-2018. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 67(3), 1284–1294. https://doi.org/10.1111/TBED.13467
- Wiederkehr, D. D., Sydler, T., Buergi, E., Haessig, M., Zimmermann, D., Pospischil, A., Brugnera, E., & Sidler, X. (2009). A new emerging genotype subgroup within PCV-2b dominates the PMWS epizooty in Switzerland. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 136(1–2), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2008.10.028
- Wilhelm, J., & Pingoud, A. (2003). Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction. *CHEMBIOCHEM*, 1120–1128. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.200300662
- Williams, P. D. (2010). Darwinian interventions: taming pathogens through evolutionary ecology. *Trends in Parasitology*, 26(2), 83–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PT.2009.11.009
- Xiao, C.-T., Halbur, P. G., & Opriessnig, T. (2012). Complete genome sequence of a novel porcine circovirus type 2b variant present in cases of vaccine failures in the United States. *Journal of Virology*, 86(22), 12469–12469. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.02345-12
- Xiao, C. T., Halbur, P. G., & Opriessnig, T. (2015a). Global molecular genetic analysis of porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) sequences confirms the presence of four main PCV2 genotypes and reveals a rapid increase of PCV2d. *The Journal of General Virology*, 96(Pt 7), 1830–1841. https://doi.org/10.1099/VIR.0.000100
- Xiao, C. T., Harmon, K. M., Halbur, P. G., & Opriessnig, T. (2016). PCV2d-2 is the predominant type of PCV2 DNA in pig samples collected in the U.S. during 2014-2016. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 197, 72–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2016.11.009
- Xu, T., Zhang, Y. H., Tian, R. B., Hou, C. Y., Li, X. S., Zheng, L. L., Wang, L. Q., & Chen, H. Y. (2021). Prevalence and genetic analysis of porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV2) and type 3 (PCV3) between 2018 and 2020 in central China. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2021.105016
- Yang, Y., Qin, X., Sun, Y., Cong, G., Li, Y., & Zhang, Z. (2017). Development of Isothermal Recombinase Polymerase Amplification Assay for Rapid Detection of Porcine Circovirus Type 2. *BioMed Research International*, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8403642
- Zhang, H.-H., Hu, W.-Q., Li, J.-Y., Liu, T.-N., Zhou, J.-Y., Opriessnig, T., & Xiao, C.-T. (2019). Novel circovirus species identified in farmed pigs designated as Porcine circovirus 4, Hunan province, China. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13446
- Zhou, S., Han, S., Shi, J., Wu, J., Yuan, X., Cong, X., Xu, S., Wu, X., Li, J., & Wang, J. (2011). Loop-mediated isothermal amplification for detection of porcine circovirus type 2. *Virology Journal*, 8(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-8-497/TABLES/1

Acknowledgements.

It gives me great pleasure to thank all the people who accompanied me during these two years and making this experience the rollercoaster that it was.

I need to start my list with my Albanian friend Petrika who was the one that guided me before even coming to Italy, he has always been available to help me and given me his friendship unconditionally.

Martina, my first flatmate here in Italy who went beyond her way to make me feel welcomed, comfortable and adapt to this new country! I will cherish our friendship and memories forever!

Daniel, Melisa, Colleen and Sara, my closest friends here with whom I spent 99% of the time and with whom we went through all the good and bad moments. Thank you for the memories!

Hala El Moussaoui whose friendship is the biggest treasure that I got from this 2 years'here. You made me a better version of myself in so many ways and we learned so much from each other! Now I also know some Arabic because you were always talking to me in your language unconsciously so I was obligated to learn to understand you. I was also obligated to steal some of your music taste as it was playing non-stop around the house. I'm not complaining. I loved it! Even when you left Italy you were still there for me in a distance supporting me when things were hard. Thank you so much!

Roksana, Elefteria and Xhesilda who have been, are and will be forever my second family. For almost 10 years you've been my biggest supporters in every step I've ever taken. A big part of who I am today is because of you. We proved that no distance could blurry our friendship. I love you!

A big THANK YOU goes to Giulia Faustini, the PhD student who guided me through my thesis work with great patience. She is not only very professional but also became a good friend of mine. If you would pass by our work space then you would hear us singing, talking about international food (sometimes you could hear our stomachs echoing in the room after those conversations), traveling and how to load the Real-Time PCR machine.

A very special thank you goes to my thesis professor, Franzo Giovanni, who accepted to take me under his supervision, guided me on every step of making this thesis possible and was always available to help me. Thank you for the patience, for the support and for making me feel so welcomed in your team.I wouldn't have been able to do this is without professor Giovanni and Giulia. I am extremely grateful and honored to have worked with you.

Last on the list but the most important, I want to thank my family, my 2 wonderful sisters Megi and Lolita, my brother in law Kristi and my parents Henrik and Kozeta to whom I owe and dedicate all my achievements because without their support it wouldn't have been possible. No amount of written pages can describe how much I love you and how grateful I am for all the support you've given me.

Sincerely, Erina.